1962

Vern C. Strand and Eleanor A. Strand v. Fred Mayne and Detta Ann Mayne : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an action arising under a uniform real estate contract by which the defendants, Mayne, sold certain motel property in Roy, Utah, to the plaintiffs, Strand, and the plaintiffs seek to avoid forfeiture of payments made on a contract and improvements made on the premises.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

From a judgment dismissing the plaintiffs' complaint with prejudice upon motion of the defendant for summary judgment, the plaintiffs appeal.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiffs seek reversal of the judgment and permission to go to trial upon the merits.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The appellants' complaint for a first cause of action (R.1) alleges that April 1, 1955 the plaintiffs as buyer entered into the contract marked Exhibit "A" and attached to the complaint with the defendants for the purchase of real estate consisting of land and seventeen motel units and certain personal property in Roy, Weber County, Utah. That the total purchase price was \$41,500.00, of which the plaintiffs paid \$7,578.58 as down payment and thereafter made additional payments up to and including the 3rd day of October, 1957 of \$10,875.00. That in addition, the appellants, in order to place the property in habitable condition, expended for repairs, improvements, additions and equipment \$9,567.37 which included converting a previously unusable portion of the front of the premises into a restaurant and coffee shop. That the total payments and improvements made by the appellants was the sum of \$29,020.95; that the repairs and improvements made by the appellants increased

the market value of the property by at least \$25,000.00. That after the execution of the agreement, the respondents wrongfully and continually interfered with the rental of the units of the motel and by reason of such interference the plaintiffs were unable to make payments after November 3, 1957. That on or about January 8, 1958 the respondents repossessed the premises. That the reasonable rental value of the premises was the sum of \$450.00 per month; that the retention by the respondents of the premises and payments theretofore made would be inequitable and unconscionable, and the appellants requested the court to determine the compensation to which the respondents might equitably be entitled and for such other relief as to the court was proper in the premises.

For second cause of action the appellants alleged that the respondents made certain representations with respect to the habitable condition, the roof, the floor and sewer connection, upon which the appellants relied and were induced to enter into the agreement, and that by reason of the falsity of the representations and the reliance thereon by the appellants, the appellants were damaged in the amount of \$29,020.95.

The answer of the respondents was generally a denial of the allegations of the complaint. Subsequently, the respondents filed an amended answer and counter-claim wherein the respondents alleged that the appellants on March 20, 1957 sold the property to Watterson under uniform real estate contract marked Exhibit "1" and attached to the answer and counter-claim, and that by such sale the appellants lost all of their rights and claims against the respondents. The respondents then allege on information and belief that certain individuals, Lucy Semora and Verda Lynn, as successors in interest to the appellants and Wattersons came into possession of the premises and that the respondents on or about January 8, 1958, commenced an action in the District Court for Weber County against Lucy Semora and Verda Lynn seeking restitution of the premises, and that such action against Lucy Semora and Verda

Lynn constituted *res adjudicata* as against the appellants (R.16). Respondents further alleged that the provision of the contract for liquidated damaged was binding upon the appellants. Answering the second cause of action relative to fraud, the respondents alleged that the appellants had inspected the premises, sought independent counsel and advice, relied upon their own judgment, were not misinformed and were bound by the provision of the contract that the buyer accept the premises in the present condition; that the appellants having elected to remain in possession of the premises after discovering the fraud were precluded from rescinding, and are estopped to make any claim against the defendants.

The respondents filed a motion for summary judgment (R.29) and a brief in support of a motion for summary judgment (R.30), and there having been several continuances in the interim, the respondents filed a new motion for summary judgment on October 13, 1961 (R.53) accompanied by an affidavit which recited that the attached brief in support of summary judgment supports the motion for summary judgment.

Depositions were taken, interrogatories were propounded, and requests for admissions of fact were presented.

The final brief of the respondents in support of the motion for summary judgment is contained in pages 76 to 98 of the record, and the brief of the plaintiffs resisting the motion for summary judgment is contained in pages 99 to 103 of the record. The facts as presented to the trial court in connection with the motion for summary judgment as contained in the brief and representations of the parties are graphically summarized as follows:

I

(R.110) (Tr. 12-15)

Mayne sold to Strand:

(R.5) Uniform Real Estate Contract, April 1, 1955.

Purchase Price \$41,500.00

Down Payment 7,578.58

\$33,921.42

Subsequent Payments:

Interest \$ 4,156.52

Principal 7,732.57

\$11,889.09

(Tr. 13) Balance of Principal as of 12/3/57 \$26,188.85

Improvements by Strand .. \$11,726.77

Down Payment 7,578.58

Subsequent Payments 11,889.09

Total Investment by

Strand \$31,194.44

(Not including current expenses)

Period occupied: 4/1/55 to 1/6/58 = 33 months

Reasonable Rental Value \$450.00 per month = \$14,850.00

Market Value on January 6, 1958 = \$63,000.00

(Market value claimed by Respondents as of December 15,
1961, \$35,000.00, R. 97).

II

Strand sold by new contract to Watterson:

(R.22) Uniform Real Estate Contract, March 20, 1957.

Purchase Price \$63,000.00

Recited Down Payment 500.00

Payment by assignment of
equities in two other contracts:

a. Nephi property netted nothing - Valueless

b. Salt Lake property may realize \$2,000.00

DEFAULTED and FORFEITED by Notice 1/29/58

III

Watterson assigned the contract with Strand to Goldsby and
Clinger July 31, 1957

Defaulted and Forfeited by notice 1/29/58

IV

(See File #33330, R. 117)

Action by Mayne for Repossession:

a. Notice to quit served upon Lucy Semora dated 1/8/58, and signed by John A. Hendricks, attorney for Mayne.

b. Complaint by Mayne vs. Lucy Semora and Verda Lynn, dated January 13, 1958, for restitution of possession.

c. Semora and Lynn answered in general denial, then subsequently by letter of attorney Tel Charlier, disclaimed, January 31, 1958.

d. Decree February 10, 1958, awarded possession of premises to Mayne.

V

Action Commenced by Strand vs. Mayne May 13, 1958.

The court heard the arguments of the parties on April 23, 1962 and took the matter under advisement (R.105). A transcript of the proceedings is included in the record (R. 116). The court rendered judgment dismissing the complaint with prejudice on May 16, 1962, (R.109). Appellants filed a motion for rehearing (R.106) and requested among other things that the court indicate the points upon which the court relied in granting the motion for summary judgment, which motion for rehearing was denied by the court.

ARGUMENT

In the conclusion to the respondents' brief (R.96) the respondents set forth four grounds upon which they con-

tended the motion for summary judgment was well taken, and the trial court not having specified the grounds upon which the judgment was granted, it is assumed that one or more of the four grounds stated by the respondents in their conclusion was the basis for the judgment and accordingly these grounds become the points of argument.

Point 1. That the appellants' claim against the respondents was not *res adjudicata*.

There was never any notice of default or forfeiture served by the respondents upon the appellants, nor was any action ever taken by the respondents against the appellants upon the contract between the respondents and appellants. The respondents proceeded to recover possession from Lucy Semore and Verda Lynn by an action in the District Court for Weber County, Civil No. 33330 (R.117), but nowhere does it appear that Lucy Semora or Verda Lynn had anything but a possessory interest in the premises. There was no privity of contract between the respondents and any other persons other than the appellants. The appellants never assigned the contract with the respondents to any other party, but contracted anew by separate real estate contract with the subsequent possessors, Watterson, and Watterson subsequently assigned to Goldsby and Clinger. The contract between the appellants and respondents never having been assigned, there is no contractual relationship between the respondents and any other party other than the appellants. The action by the respondents against Lucy Semora and Verda Lynn was solely for possession of the premises under a wrongful detention proceeding, and in no way purported to adjudicate the rights of the parties under any contract. As stated in *Pearce v. Shurtz*, 2 Utah 2d 124, 270 P.2d 442, an unlawful detainer action is an action to remove a tenant from possession and is primarily against the person in possession; it is not similar to a quiet title action where anyone with an interest should be joined (Page 126) and the rights of the defendants under the contract are not considered. (Page 129). The only issue raised

in Civil No. 33330 was that of right to possession as against persons having no contract interest in the property and did not purport to litigate the rights of parties under the contract.

Point 2. The appellants by contracting under a new uniform real estate contract to sell the premises to Wattersons did not lose their estate, interest or contractual rights as against the respondents.

It is to be noted that the appellants at no time assigned, transferred or disposed of any of its interest in the contract between the appellants and respondents, but entered into a new uniform real estate contract with Wattersons. As such the contractual relationship between the appellants and respondents remained and the appellants had separate contractual obligations to Wattersons. Wattersons assigned the Strand-Watterson contract to Goldsby and Clinger. Strand, by notice served January 29, 1958 upon default of Wattersons, Goldsby and Clinger, declared a forfeiture of the Watterson contract which was met by inaction of the part of Wattersons, Goldsby and Clinger. Watterson had agreed by contract to pay Strand \$63,000.00 for the premises payable \$500.00 down and \$13,500.00 by the assignment of equities in two other contracts recited to be worth \$13,500.00, but which in fact may be worth only \$2,000.00 if and when Strand recovers on one of the contracts relating to Salt Lake City property. However assuming that Strand received \$14,000.00 of the \$63,000.00 purchase price, there was still due and owing to Strand the difference between the \$49,000.00 balance due from Watterson to Strand and the \$26,000.00 balance due from Strand to Mayne, a difference of \$23,000.00 still due from Watterson to Strand before Watterson could succeed to Strands interest or equity in the property. If Strand had been paid out by Watterson, instead of still being owed about \$23,000.00, the argument of the respondent that Strand no longer had an interest in the contract may have some merit, but it does not

seem reasonable to contend that a purchaser who contracts to sell his interest thereby forfeits his interest in the property, whether or not his own vendee has performed. While there do not seem to be many cases on this point it has been held that the purchaser is entitled on default of his grantee, to take possession of the premises and carry out the contract of purchase *Hill v. Preston*, 34 S. W. 2d 780, 119 Tex. 522. Even in the case of an assignment it is generally held that the original vendor's acceptance of an assignment made by his purchaser does not place the assignee of the purchaser in privity of contract with the original vendor, 59 A. L. R. 954. Accordingly the privity between the original vendor and the purchaser remains in absence of a novation.

Point 3. Appellants interest in the contract with the respondent has not been forfeited or terminated.

The respondents at no time served notice of default or notice of forfeiture under the contract with the appellants and until such notice is served the issue of damages cannot be resolved. The provision for forfeiture is not self executing and written notice is necessary. *Howorth v. Mills*, 62 Utah 574, 221 P. 165; *Leone v. Zuniga*, 84 Utah 417, 34 P. 2d 699.

Point 4. The appellants are entitled to maintain this action to avoid forfeiture of the improvements and payments made by the appellants.

The appellants and purchasers were in possession of the property about thirty three months, from April 1, 1955 to January 6, 1958, during which period a purchase price of \$41,500.00 was reduced to \$26,188.85, and the appellants made improvements including the creation and equipment of a coffee shop which theretofore did not exist on the premises, with the cost of said improvements of about \$11,726.77. The total investment by the appellants, as re-

viewed supra (P 4), was \$31,194.44. The difference between \$31,194.44, the total investment in improvements and payments by appellants and the rental value for a 33 month period of \$14,850.00 is the sum of \$16,344.44, which is 39% of the original purchase price. The appellants contended that the market value of the property on or about March 20, 1957 was between \$63,000.00 and \$75,000.00 (R. 77) and represented to the court that at the time of repossession on January 6, 1958, the property had a market value of \$63,000.00 (R. 110). The respondents supplied an affidavit dated April 18, 1962 that the market value of the property as of December 15, 1961 was \$35,000.00.

The rule with respect to measure of damages is stated in *Malmberg v. Baugh*, 62 Utah 331, 218 P. 975 to be the difference between the contract price with interest and the value of the land at the time of re-entry, less any payments made on the contract. This doctrine was amplified in *Perkins v. Spencer*, 121 Utah 468, 243 P. 2d 446, and the wording of the opinion is such as to incorporate the basis for relief as being unjust enrichment and unconscionable advantage. Spencer sold a home in Provo to the plaintiff Perkins and brought suit in the city court in an unlawful detainer action alleging forfeiture of the contract. Perkins then commenced an action in the district court to avoid the strict effects of the forfeiture provision. The total purchase price was \$10,500.00 of which Perkins had paid \$2,500.00 down and \$75.00 a month, the \$75.00 being a reasonable rental value of the premises. The trial court allowed the defendant to keep the payments as liquidated damages and awarded treble damages for unlawful detainer. This was reversed on appeal, first, as to the treble damages as the notice to quit was not properly served and strict statutory compliance was required. With respect to the forfeiture as liquidated damages of the amount paid, the court reviewed several cases and established certain criteria. The court quotes from Restatement of Contracts, Section 339, that the agreement for liquidated damages will be enforceable if (a) the amount so fixed is a reasonable forecast of just compensation for the harm that is caused by the breach,

and (b) the harm that is caused by the breach is one that is incapable or very difficult of accurate estimation. This court then commenced a review of many Utah cases wherein they state that liquidated damages are enforceable where the amount stipulated is not disproportionate to the damage actually sustained, but that no forfeiture is allowed where the same is unconscionable and exorbitant. In the case of *Cooley v. Call*, 61 Utah 203, 211 P. 977 where the forfeiture amounted to about 10% of the purchase price, and in the case of *Cristy v. Guild*, 101 Utah 313, 121 P. 2d 401, where the monthly income exceeded the total payments plus improvements, this court held that the forfeiture did not amount to a penalty. However in *Malmberg v. Baugh*, 62 Utah 331, 218 P. 975, where \$4,450.00 of the full contract price of \$10,000.00 was paid during the period of occupancy of twenty-two months, this court clearly indicated that they regarded forfeiture of such sum as excessive and would not allow its retention. The opinion of the Perkins case quotes from *Young v. Hansen*, 117 Utah 591, 218 P. 2d 666 as follows:

“The contract did not provide for the retention of money, and even if it did, it is questionable that such provision could be enforced as defendants would acquire an unconscionable advantage and, be unjustly enriched at the expense of the plaintiffs as there is no showing that the defendants had suffered any damage.”

The Perkins case sets forth a formula for determining the damages due the seller as follows:

“The vendors are entitled to any loss occasioned them by any of these factors:

- (1) Loss of an advantageous bargain;
- (2) Any damage to or depreciation of the property;
- (3) Any decline in value due to change in market value of the property not allowed for in items nos. 1 and 2, and

- (4) For the fair rental value of the property during the period of occupancy.

The total of such sums should be deducted from the total amount paid in, plus any improvements for which it would be fair to allow recovery, and any remain difference awarded to the plaintiffs.”

Justice Wolf in a concurring opinion states that the market value determined at the time of repossession includes therein depreciation and need not be separately calculated.

In defendant’s motion for summary judgment, plaintiffs’ contentions must be considered in the light most favorable to the plaintiffs and all doubts should be resolved in favor of permitting the plaintiffs to go to trial; and only if when the whole matter is so viewed, the plaintiffs nevertheless could establish no right to recovery should the motion be granted.

Samms v. Eccles, 11 Utah 2d 289, 358 P2d 344; Morris v. Farnsworth Motel et al. 123 Utah 289, 259 P2d 297.

In the appellants’ motion for rehearing (R. 106-108) the appellants requested the trial court to give some indication of the grounds upon which the motion for summary judgment was granted in order that the appellants might present opposing affidavits, amend or otherwise support its position. The court denied the motion for rehearing.

In other cases this court has held:

“It must appear to a certainty that the plaintiff would not be entitled to relief under any state of facts which could be proved in support of its claim before a judgment on the pleading may be granted.”

Securities Credit Corp. v. Willey, 1 Utah 2d 254, 265 P2d 422.

“The sustaining of summary motions without affording the party an opportunity to present his evidence is a stringent measure which courts should be reluctant to grant . . . Accordingly, the privilege of

presenting evidence should be denied only when, taking the view most favorable to the party' claims, he could not in any event establish a right to redress under the law; and unless it clearly so appears, doubts should be resolved in favor of permitting him to go to trial".

Tangren v. Ingalls, 12 Utah 2d. 388, 367 P2d 179.

In addition to the many issues raised by the points above which are yet to be resolved there was the issue of damages for fraud. The respondents took the position that the only remedy which the appellants would have in the event of fraud was for rescission and that their failure to return the premises denied them the right of rescission. There is also the remedy of damages for fraud which is available to the appellants in which they may forgo the right to rescind and retain what they have received and bring an action at law to recover damages sustained. McKellar v. Paxton, 62 Utah 97, 218 P. 128; 24 Am Jur 8, Fraud and Deceit, sections 190 and 191.

Appellants respectfully request that the judgment of the trial court be reversed and the cause remanded for trial.

Respectfully,

GEORGE K. FADEL

Attorney for Appellants