1962

Vern C. Strand and Eleanor A. Strand v. Fred Mayne and Detta Ann Mayne : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an action brought by vendees under a uniform real estate contract by which they purchased a dilapidated commercial motel property (contrary to expert advice not to do so) for the purpose of making "extra money," made repairs and put a false front on it, sold it for a substantial profit, lost it through mismanagement and neglect, and by this action seek to recover their alleged losses from the vendors.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

From a judgment dismissing the plaintiffs' complaint with prejudice upon motion of the defendants for summary judgment, the plaintiffs appeal.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiffs-Appellants seek reversal of the judgment and permission to go to trial upon the merits. Defendants-Respondents seek affirmation of the summary judgment granted by the trial court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts as they appear from the pleadings and from the deposition of the appellant, Vern C. Strand, and from the appellants' answers to the respondents' interrogatories on file herein, are stated at some length to save the Court the time and trouble of ferreting them out, as follows:

On or about April 1, 1955, appellants purchased from respondents the motel and premises described in that Uniform Real Estate Contract attached to appellants' complaint (R. 5) and referred to therein as Exhibit "A", consisting of 17 units and a house and a new, uncompleted vacant building (Dep. p. 37) for the sum of \$41,500.00, payable \$7,578.58 down (the agreed value of contracts assigned and transferred to the respondents by the appellants) and the balance payable according to the terms of that contract, pursuant to which appellants took possession of the premises and operated them through a hired manager, who lived in the house on the premises (Dep. p. 37), for a period of approximately two years (Dep. p. 27) until they sold it to F. C. Watterson and Mae Watterson by Uniform Real Estate Contract dated March 20, 1957, attached to respondents' amended answer and counterclaim (R. 22) and referred to therein as "Exhibit 1," for the sum of \$63,000.00, at a profit of \$21,500.00, on which sale they received as a down payment the sum of \$500.00 cash plus an equity in a cafe in Nephi of the acknowledged value of \$12,662.00, or a total down payment of \$13,162.00.

The premises were observed by appellants to be in

a run-down condition at the time appellants purchased them from respondents (Dep. pp. 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 19, 20, 21, 22, 24); all of the units were not occupied (Dep. pp. 22, 23); two new units were unfinished (Dep. p. 23); respondent Mayne recommended that the new units be completed into a double unit, (Dep. p. 24) and so did appellant's wife, (Dep. p. 25), but appellant Strand made it into a cafe which appellants "rented" at first and then "leased" (Dep. p. 25); the units were not the over-night type for transients but were occupied for the most part by permanent residents, one tenant having been there for seven years (Dep. p. 23); the repairs made by appellants did not appreciably increase the rental income (Appellants' answer 91 to the respondents' interrogatory 91, R50); appellants kept the rates "pretty much the same" as they were before (Dep. p. 26).

Before appellants made the purchase, appellant Strand brought one Beth Roberts, a successful motel operator in Salt Lake City and Las Vegas, Nevada, (Dep. p. 35) to look at the premises and advise with him about it, (Dep. p. 12); was told he was going to have to put a lot of money and time and a lot of work "to put them in shape to rent out" (Dep. pp. 12, 13, 23, 24); but appellants did not take the counsel and advice of their experienced and "competent" adviser (Dep. pp. 13, 35); appellant Strand admitted that "she was sure right" and that he "should have listened to her" (Dep. p. 24), and admitted that afterwards she (Beth Roberts) said "I told you so." (Dep. p. 35). Appellant Strand said it was the "biggest mistake" of his life (Dep. p. 20), said he didn't think he needed a builder to check it for him and that that was his fault and his wife's (Dep. pp. 18, 64), said he would have been a lot better off if he had not sold to Wattersons (Dep. p. 31), admitted he "could have made the payments" if he had not sold to Wattersons (Dep. p. 31), admitted that he could have "paid the property out" if he had not sold to Wattersons (Dep.

p. 31), admitted that if the Wattersons had "been good purchasers and had paid out" appellants would have made a "nice profit" (Dep. p. 34), and "could have got" his "money out of it" and "wouldn't have lost anything" (Dep. p. 34) and would have "got rid of one more headache, the trouble of going out there every night." (Dep. p. 34).

Appellants stated that they believed the premises had a value of \$35,000.00 at the time they purchased them and had a value of \$63,000.00 at the time they sold them. (Appellants' answer 85 to respondents' interrogatory 85, R. 50). At the bottom of page 32 and top of page 33 of appellant Strand's deposition, he states that the repairs and improvements placed upon the premises, as alleged in paragraph 4 of his complaint, increased the market value of the premises by \$25,000.00, although he did not have any appraisal made (Dep. pp. 33, 34), saying "that was just a figure that I figured", merely his own "personal estimate" (Dep. p. 33). The cost of \$41,500.00 and the alleged increase of \$25,000.00 would equal \$66,500.00. Appellant Strand tried to sell the premises to Wattersons for \$75,000.00, but finally took Wattersons' offer of \$63,000.00, because of the fact that appellant was tired of "going out there and back every dog-goned night" and because his "wife was hollering about it." (Dep. p. 33). The inflated sale price realized by appellants on their sale to the Wattersons was not the true value of the premises. Competent appraisers fixed the value at \$35,000.00 when they appraised the premises on April 18, 1962, (See Affidavit attached to Respondents' Brief in support of their Motion for Summary Judgment, R. 97) which corresponded to what appellant Strand said it was worth when he bought it.

Wattersons sold the premises to "some people by the name of Goldsby" (Dep. p. 44); Goldsbys got a divorce and appellants couldn't find anyone to "collect the money

from” (Dep. p. 29); Goldsbys had a partner named Clinger who at one time was “making a deal with a Verda Lind.” (Dep. p. 45).

It does not appear from appellant Strand’s deposition (or elsewhere in the record) what the terms of the subsequent sales were. However, it is clear from the deposition that appellants or their counsel would furnish respondents with “the total amount of all the rents received” by appellants while they were in possession and “all the payments” received “from the people to whom” the premises were sold. (Dep. p. 65; also pp. 66 and 67.) This they did not do.

Appellants said they were unable to account for any sums which may have passed hands on the subsequent sales of the premises, (Appellants’ answers 9 and 10 to respondents’ interrogatories 9 and 10, R. 47) and were unable to account for any income or disposition of income or furnish any information concerning the operation of the motel units or cafe from and after the time appellants sold to Wattersons. (See appellants’ answers to respondents’ interrogatories 13, 14, 15, 17, 18, 19, 25, 26, 27, 33, 34, 35, 37, 38, 39, 41, 42, 43, 49, 50 and 51, R. 47, 48, 49.)

Appellants’ first default under their contract with respondents was in the fall of 1955 when they failed to pay the taxes and the respondents applied the monthly payment on the taxes (Dep. pp. 38, 39). With that exception, although they were “late on several occasions”, appellants evidently never missed a payment until after they sold to the Wattersons (Dep. p. 39). There were numerous defaults on the part of appellants in the terms of their contract of purchase from respondents after appellants sold to Wattersons (Dep. pp. 30, 31, 38, 39, 41, 42, 43), and appellants were getting demands from the Bank which held the escrow agreement (Dep. p. 38).

Respondents gave them additional time to make payments and to pay the taxes (Dep. pp. 40, 41, 42).

Appellants never did notify respondents that they had sold to Wattersons, nor did respondents have any notice of any of the subsequent sales beyond the Wattersons. "Nobody notified anybody," admitted appellant Strand. Appellants recognized their responsibility to see that respondents got paid so they (appellants) would not lose the premises, and appellant Strand went to Clinger and told him he had "to pay" or he (appellant) would take the loss, and three days later called Clinger and "really bawled him out." (Dep. p. 48).

Clinger had evidently been appellants' real estate agent. Appellant Strand said: "He was the one that sold it to the Wattersons from me, but somehow he came back into the picture and when I went out to try and get some money from Goldsby she told me to collect from Clinger. I was supposed to collect from him. And he is the guy I started hounding." (Dep. p. 30). By the time appellants had sold to Wattersons, they were at least \$2,000.00 in default to respondents (Dep. p. 43).

Appellants were only required to pay respondents \$375.00 per month, besides the two \$1,000.00 payments due July 1, 1956, and July 1, 1957. (See Contract marked Exhibit "A" attached to appellants' complaint, R. 5). But their contract of sale to Wattersons required Wattersons to pay them \$600.00 per month for the months from April through September, and \$375.00 per month for the months October through March, and in addition \$1,000.00 on August 1, 1957. (See contract marked "Exhibit 1" attached to respondents' amended answer and counterclaim, R. 22). Appellants collected at least some of the larger \$600.00 payments from Wattersons (Dep. pp. 44, 45). In August appellants learned that Wattersons had sold to Goldsbys, and informed them of the delinquent payments (Dep. p. 44). Goldsby said Clinger was

to make the payments, and appellants went to Clinger and got \$500.00, (Dep. pp. 45, 46) and a promise of more later (Dep. p. 46). When appellant Strand called Clinger later, he was told that Verda Lind had bought the place from Goldsbys; that Goldsbys were getting a divorce; that they had the place "tied up in court and didn't know who was 'going to get the Motel' ". Appellant admitted saying to Clinger: "Yes, and in the meantime I am in a bad spot here because I will be losing the place and I am going to get some money to pay," adding: "I can't wait while they are fighting in court and everything." (Dep. p. 46). When Verda Lind backed out later, Clinger told appellants they had nothing to worry about, that he (Clinger) was "going to take it and see that" appellants got "taken care of". (Dep. p. 48). Appellant Strand quoted Clinger further as saying: "The thing is I sold the place to Verda Lind and I can go up and pay off all these payments and put us both in good shape." (Dep. p. 50).

Appellant Strand stated that if the Wattersons had paid him in accordance with their agreement, or had the Goldsbys paid in accordance with their agreement, or had Clinger or Verda Lind paid, he would have turned that money in on his contract and paid the escrow out "as fast as possible." (Dep. p. 50).

Appellant Strand admitted that he was in arrears at least \$1,000.00 plus two monthly payments (\$375.00 each) when he got a letter from the Bank saying if he could catch up by December, 1957, it would be all right; then said he was given until January, 1958. (Dep. p. 52). But appellants' complaint alleges that the last payment was made by appellants on October 3rd, 1957. There is nothing in the record to indicate that appellants ever made tender or attempted to renegotiate the contract, or to refinance or dispose of the property. On January 8, 1958, the escrow holder (Bank) returned the escrow

papers to respondents. (Dep. p. 58).

As a result of the successive defaults, of non-payments, late payments and failure to pay taxes, respondents were compelled to and did, after legal notice, commence a civil action for repossession of the premises, on or about January 13th, 1958, in the Weber County District Court (Civil action No. 33330, Department No. 2) against the persons then in possession, namely: one Lucy Semora and one Verda Lynn (Lind). The premises were restored to respondents by the judgment and decree of the Weber County District Court on February 10th, 1958.

Thereafter on May 13, 1958, the present action was commenced by appellants against respondents.

The complaint (R. 1) contains two causes of action: (1) the first alleging that plaintiffs-appellants had paid and expended a total of \$29,020.95, and sought to have the Court award to them an equitable portion of that sum on the theory of unjust enrichment; and (2) the second alleging misrepresentations on the part of the defendants-respondents as an inducement to persuade appellants to enter into the contract, claiming damages of \$29,020.95.

The amended answer and counterclaim (R. 15) of the defendants denies generally the allegations of the complaint and sets up affirmative defenses thereto. Respondents affirmative defenses and denial of both unjust enrichment and fraud formed the basis for respondents motion for summary judgment. The fourth defense alleges that plaintiffs carefully inspected the premises prior to purchase, sought independent counsel and advice, did not take the advice received, were not misinformed or misled by defendants, made their own decision to purchase, and were bound by their contract under which they agreed to accept the property in its

then condition and agreed that no representations were made other than those set forth in the contract itself. The fifth defense denied fraud and alleges that plaintiffs-appellants elected to remain in possession after their alleged discovery and made repairs and did not elect to rescind or repudiate the contract or demand the return of their down payment, and having so elected were estopped to do so. The sixth defense alleges that plaintiffs-appellants not only made the elections referred to in the fifth defense, but made the further election to sell the premises to the Wattersons for a profit and were estopped to make any claim against the defendants-respondents. The seventh defense alleges that plaintiffs-appellants repeatedly defaulted under their contract of purchase, and sold to others, and continued to default, and were in default when the premises were returned by decree in Civil action No. 33330 of the Weber County District Court, Department No. 2, on February 10th, 1958. The counter-claim is not an issue on this appeal.

A summary and brief analysis of the figures stated in the appellants' pleadings, answers to interrogatories, deposition and admissions, disclose that appellants operated their business venture entirely on respondents' money and property and their (appellants') profit on the re-sale of the property to the Wattersons, or had opportunity to do so but for their own mismanagement and neglect:

Appellants' complaint alleges:

Down payment to respondents of	\$ 7,578.58
Monthly payments to respondents of	10,875.00
Claimed repairs, improvements, additions and equipment of	9,567.37
Bonus payment to respondents of	1,000.00
	<hr/>
Total	\$29,020.95

Appellants' complaint also alleges that the property had a reasonable rental value of \$450.00 per month.

Respondents' position is that Appellants operated on Respondents' money and property, and on their profit from their sale to Wattersons, and but for their own mis-management, etc., had none of their own money in the venture:

Appellants bought premises for	\$41,500.00
and sold them to Wattersons for	63,000.00
thereby making a profit of	21,500.00

Appellants received on that resale cash of \$500.00 and an equity in a cafe in Nephi (still being operated by appellants, Dep. p. 10) of the agreed value of \$12,662.00, or a down payment from Wattersons of \$13,162.00

(In addition, appellants acquired a claim against Wattersons of \$8,338.00 for loss of an advantageous bargain when Wattersons defaulted, being the difference between their profit of \$21,500.00 and the down payment of \$13,162.00).

Appellants collected rents in excess of their alleged reasonable rental value of the premises (\$450.00 per month), or could or should have done so, which, calculated on the minimum basis of their own valuation of \$450.00 per month for 33 months, amounts to the minimum sum of\$14,850.00

Total money not appellants own\$28,012.00

In addition appellants had the use of respondents' property, for which their contract called for interest at 5.5%. Deducting appellants' alleged down payment of \$7,578.58 and their alleged monthly payments of \$10,875.00 (\$18,453.58) from the purchase price of \$41,500.00, would give the minimum constant unpaid principal balance of \$23,046.42, which at 5.5% interest per annum, unpaid, amounts to the further asset use value of\$ 3,485.68

Total money, property and interest not their own, available to and used by appellants ..\$31,497.68

From this it is apparent that if the appellants have lost any money whatever they have no one to blame but themselves. Appellants have failed to furnish evidence of their collections or the collections of their transferees and successor transferees or evidence of the consideration passing between the Wattersons and the successor transferees from the Wattersons. It must, therefore, be presumed that it would have been to the disadvantage of their claims had they done so. The appellants had every opportunity to make money on their venture, and may very well have made money so far as the record is concerned.

POINTS OF ISSUE

From the pleadings it is apparent that there are but two main points of issue to be considered on this appeal:

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